
UNITED STATES DISTIU CT CO URT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 24-1V-02537 Reid

IN THE M ATTER OF AN
AM ENDED CRIM INAL COM PLAINT

AM ENDED CIUM INAL COVER SHEET

1 . Did this matter originate from a m atter pending in the NolXhern Region of the United States
Atttlrney's Office prior tt.l Augtlst 8, 2014 (Mag. Jtldge Shaniek M , Maynardl? NO

2. Did this matter originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the United States
At-torney's Office prior to October 3, 20 1 9 (Mag. Judge Jared M. Strauss)? NO

3. Did this matter involve the paliicipation of or consultation with now M agistrate Judge
Edtlardo 1. Sanchez dtlring his tenure at the U.S. Atlolmey's Office, which concluded on
Janualy 22, 20237 NO

4. Did this matter involve the pat-ticipation of or consultation now M agistrate Judge M arta
Fulgueira Elfenbein during her tenure at the U.S. Attolmey's Oflice, which concluded on
M arch 5, 2024? YES
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Coul't ID A 5502556
JLK Federal Justice Building
99 Nol-tlleast 4th Street
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Telephone: 305-961-9309
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AO 9 1 (Rev, 08/09) Criminal Colllplailyt

UNITED STATES D ISTRICT COURT
for the

Southern District of Florida

United States of America
V.

Case No. 24-mj-02537 Reid

PAUL OSW ALD MORANI

E) eJrc?l(/(?p?Ir&J
AM ENDED

CRIMINAL COM PLAINT BY TELEPHONE OR OTHER RELG BLE ELECTRONIC M EANS

1, the complainant in this case, state that the following is tl.tle to the best of my knowledge and Lelief.

On qr about tbe datets) of Januaw 2018 to March 2024 in the county of Miami-Dade in the
Southern District of Florida , the defendantts) violated:

Code s'cc//cw Oyense Dc,s,c/-fp/Dn
' 

Conspiracy to Launder Monetary Intruments1
8 U.s.C. j 1j56(h)

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

SEE ATTACHED AFFIDAVIT.

V Continbled pn the attached sheet.

tT()??//7 lcliltell't 'J J iLil'tï ?!I)-c '

Patrick Be-tters. Special Aqent DEA - -

lol-l.l:t c r/ ,7(7??, e 47/7:/ tl'tle

Attested to by the Applicant in aùcordance with the requireluents of Fed.R.C1'im.P. . y Face - e

Date: March 21 , 2024
Jlldge 's 5.k'g77t-lJlI?*c

City and state: Miami, Florida Honorable Bruce E. Reinhart, United States Ma' gistrate Judge
lnl-il't e c/ ?? f???lc (???r/ tit /e
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AM ENDED AFFIDAVIT

Your Aftiant Patrick Betters, first being duly sworn: states as follows:

I aln a Special Agent with the Drug Enforcennent Adtninistration (DE A) and have

so been so em ployed since 2018. Upon being hired as a DEA Special Agent, l atlended a sixteen

week DEA academy in Quantico) Virginia where l received training in al1 aspects of nal.cotics

investigations. I am cun'ently assigned to the DEA M iami Field Division. As a Special Agent

with DEA, 1 have participated in numel'ous narcotics investigations involving narcotics trafficking

and lnoney laundering violations, the control and adluinistration of confi' dential sources,

intenaational drug trafficking organizations and intelnlational drug in-lpol-tation, tl-ansnational

crime, and undercover operations. During my career in law enforcem ent, I have worked and

constllted with ntlmerous 1aw enforcement officers experienced in drug investigations, and spoken

with numerous infonuants and suspects regarding the practices of drug trafficking and money

laundering organizations. have previously investigated sm uggling, trafficking, and money

laundering operations in Pelm, M exico, Guatemala, and Colombia.

2. As a 1aw enforcement officer within the meaning ef Section 2510(7) of Title 18,

United States Code, I am empowered by 1aw to conduct investigations of and make an'ests for, but

not limited to, offenses enumerated in Titles 1 8, 2 1, and 46 of the United States Code.

The inform ation contained in this affdavit is subm itted for the sole pul-pose of

establishing probabie cause to an'est PAUL M ORANI for violations of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1956(h), having knowingly conspired with at least one other person to launder

monetary instruments, that is, to transpol't) transmit, and transfer) and at'tsmpt to transpol-t, transmit,

and transfer a monetary instrument and f'unds from a place in the United States to and through a

place outside the United States and to a piace in the United States from and through a place outside
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the United States, ltnowing that the monetary instrulnents and funds involved in the transportation,

transm ission and transfer represent the proceeds of solne fonn of tlnlawf'ul activit'y and knowing

that the transaction was designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise nattlre, location,

source, ownership, and control of proceeds of specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 1 8,

United States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(B)(i).

4. Because this affidavit is being submitted for the limited put-pose of establishing

probabie cause, it does not contain all of the information known to me.and other law enforcement

officers involved in this investigation, The facts and inform ation contained in this affidavit are

based on my personal lmowledge and observations, as well as tlpon information received in my

offi' cial capacity fronn other individuals, incltlding other law enforcel-nent officers involved in this

investigation, as well as n'ly review of records, documents, and other physical itelm.s obtained

during the course of this investigation.

PR OBABLE CAUSE

ln Februal-y 20 l 9, 1aw enforcement officers wel'e ilwestigating a Brazilian target

who was sending fentanyl to the United States via the U.S. Postal System. As part of the

investigation, 1aw enforceluent learned that this target wanted to purchase approxiluately one

htlndred kilogram s of cocaine that was located in the Southelm District of Florida, for im pol-tation

into Europe. As part of this purchase of cocaine, the targetl sent over $30,000 as a down payment

for the cocaine. This paym ent cam e in the folnu of a wire transfer from a U .S. based company

called Compass Forwarding, lnc. located in thc Southelm District of Florida. Com pass

This individual was eventually convicted for illegal impol-tation and distribution of fentanyl
into the United States.
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Forwarding is owned by the defendant, Paul Morani (GûDefendant'' or 1$MORANl''), and the bal'tk

account for Compass Forwarding, lnc. is also owned by the defendant.

6. Over the course of the investigation, 1aw enforcement identified a total of seven (7)

companies that are controlled and owned by M ORANI.

a. UBS Forwardina Services Inc. (iûUBS''). UBS was incorporated in Florida

in June of 2012. According to Florida Department of State Division of

Coporations ptlblic records, M ORANI was listed as the owner. According

to ballk records, the com pany clainaed to engage in tkimport and export and

freight forwardingr'' claimed to have only two (2) employees and claimed

to have $60,000 (USD) in gross amlual revenue.

Compass Forwardinq Inc. (CICOM PASS''). COM PASS was incol-porated

in Delaware in November 2012. M ORANI was listed as the director of the

company. ldentical to UBS, according business balnlt accotlnt

application, COM PASS claimed to engage in lcimpol't and export and

freight forwardingj'' claimed to have only two (2) elnployees and claimed

to have $60,000 (USD) in almual revenue.

Jntegra Forwardin/. Inc. ISClNTEGll.A''I. Similar to UBS and COM PASS,

INTE G'RA was incorporated in Delaware in November 2012. Additionally,

identical to both UBS and COM PASS, according to its business balzk

account application, INTEGRA claim ed to engage in (iimpol't and export

and freight forwarding,'' claimed to have only two (2) employees and

claimed to have $60,000 (USD) in annual revenue. M ORANI was also

listed as the director of the company.
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Neddick Forwardinx, lnc. ICCNEDDICIQ''I. According to public records,

with M ORANI listed as the director. l-lowever, a co-conspirator re-

incol-porated NEDDICK in the State of Florida in M arch 20 l 6,

Additionally, identical to UBS, COM PA SS, and FNTEGRA, NEDDICK

clainaed to engage in (tiluport and export and freight forwardingj'' clailned

to have only two (2) employees and claimed to have $60,000 (USD) in gross

al-mual revenue.

Bamboo Lngistics Colm. (û$BAM BOO''). According to recordj, BAM BOO

was incorporated in Florida on July 1 7, 2020, and listed a family member

C.

OfM ORANI as the Registered Agent and Vice President. According to the

records, BAM BOO is listed as a logistics service conlpany.

Southelm F orwardina lnc. (SCSOUTHE 1?-N':) : Public records show that

SOUTHERN was incorporated in Florida, July 20, 2020, M ORANI'S

family member was also Iisted as the Vice President and Registered Agent.

According to the investigation, SOUTHERN is also listed as being in the

transportation and logistics industl-y.

Blue Source Group LLC (ISBLUE SOURCE''): The evidence shows it was

incol-porated in Florida on Jantlal'y 8, 2021, and again, M O1tANI'S family

:,

m em ber was listed as the Registered Agent. According to the business

records, this was described as a real estate holdings/investlnent company,

listing gross l'evenue at $50,000.
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Law enforcem ent then proceeded to investigate the legitim acy of these businesses,

and quickly concluded that they Nvere all shellcorporations without any legitimate business

activity. M ore specifically, a review of F lorida Department of Revenue found that none of the

com panies were contributing to the unemployment f'unds of the States, which m eans that they had

no eluployees. A review of Florida Depal-tment of Revenue found no wages and earnings for either

M ORANI or the family member who opened the accounts) which nAeans that the companies did

not (file the required information with the appropriate state authority. A1l colnpanies listed the

location did not show any evidence a conuuercial business, specifically on the occasions that they

condtlcted surveillance there were no custolners seen entering or exiting the residence; the cars

located in li'ont were al1 registered to the family melubers, This did not support the listed business

of Ctimpol-t or expol-t'' or Stfreight forwarding.'' The agents were tmable to find any legitimate online

presence or associated website,z which in today's day and age
, is not comm on for a legitim ate

business. h'Ioreover, a review of ctlstoms records shows no imports or expol-ts for these purpol-ted

import and export com panies3. Lastly, a search for a physical warehouse or location where the

preparation of any goods to be ilnported or expol-ted came back negative.

2 W hile the agents were able to locate some websites for the shell col-porations, they were
not f'ully functioning, in that, they only provided an email for contact, and provided no other
infonuation, including types of services, or other items one would expect from a legitimate
business.
3 Agents were able to find records of one export on Februal'y 6

, 2018, of m otorcycles froln
Miami (Po14 Everglades) to Asuncion, Paraguay, as well as one expol-t for Learjet claiming it was
under $2500 in value. Llowever, two purported exports over a span of t'ive years is not consistent
with a legitimate import/export btlsiness, er of a fl'eight forwarding business, lnstead, this is
consistent with these companies being shell corporations fbr the money l'emitting and money
latlndering entelyrise.
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8. Next, agents turned their atlention to the associated bank accounts for the shell

cop oration. According to bank reçords, the defendant opened accounts for the sham col-porations

UBS, COM PA SS, INTEGRA and NEDDICK, at Ballk of Am erica, which showed snancial

activity grossly dispropol-tionate to the companies' claim ed annklal revenues. For exam ple, from

January 20 18 through M arch 20 19, the sham companies received a combined total of

approximately $95.5 million (USD) in electronic (wi1'e) transfer deposits or credits from sources

originating in South America, mostly Argentina. These funds were sent in high dollar values to

the accounts and were then almost imnzediately electronically (wire) transferrecl or withdrawn

from the accounts resulting in vel'y 1ow monthly begilming and ending account balanees. M any

. of the incoluing wire transfers were in rounded dollar figures, Ahnost al1 of the outgoing wire

transfers were in high value, rounded dollar figures that were uluuatchable to any of the incoming

wire transfers. Consequently, Bank of Am erica closecl these accounts in or around July 20 1 9.

Financial records show that in July of 2019) the defendant then opened accounts in

W ells Fargo for his sham companies. According to bank records, fiom July 20 19 through Februal'y

2021, approximately $ 163 million (USD) moved through these four baak accounts. The financial

transactions at W ells Fal'go were similar to those at Bank of America.

For exam ple) the defendant's activity for INTEGRA in M arch of 2020, sh. owed a

starting balance of $205,645,24 and an ending balance of $257,763.34. Of note, there were

$7,022,576.21 in deposits and $6,970,458 in whhdrawals in this single month. A l'eview of the

activity shows that these deposits and withdrawals were all via wire transfers, m ostly incom ing

from Argentina. W ells Fargo closed a11 of the defendant's accounts for the sham corporations in

February of 202 1 .

6
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kloving on, the defendant then opened bal'kk 'accounts for his shalu corporations at

Citibank. In sul'n, fronn February 202 1 tiu'otlgh July 202 1 , approxiluately $7.7 lmillion (USD)

nnoved tlu'ough these accounts, with transactions similar to those at Bank of America and W ells

Fargo. Citibaak closed this account in N ovember of 202 1 .

During this time, the defenclant also opened up more bank accounts for his sham

col-porations at JP M organ Chase. From October 2020 tllrough Novem ber 202 1 , approxilnately

$9 million of incoming wire transfers were received into these accounts. JP M organ Chase closed

the accounts in November of 2021 .

Exhaustive records ofthe defendant's above-mentioned shell corporations exposed

scheme that moved over $350 million in illicit proceeds tlu'ough the defendant's variotls bank

accounts and the related seven (7) shell corporations. An analysis ofthose fsnancial records clearly

indicates that the shell colmorations were created for the sole pul-pose of relnit-ting funds through

the associated bank accotlnts, transferring personal profits, and laundering proceeds of a yet-

unknown unlawf'ul activity.

14. Money Selwices Businesses (M SBs) operating in the State of Florida require f'ederal

l'egistration and licensing with the Financial Crimes Ellforcement Network (FinCEN) and a Florida

State license to act as a l'noney translnitler. M ORANI, his coconspirators, and al1 his sham

companies were checked by 1aw enforcement against records with the State of Florida and FiIICEN

for licensing and registration as licensed M SB and the results were a11 negative.

On April 19, 202 1 , law enforcem ent conclucted a lawful search of the defendant's

cellular telephones) where they discovered, among other things, pictures of invoices, text

m essages, and audio recordings between M ORANI and the co-conspirators in which the defendant

and his co-conspirators were plainly discussed, plannetl, and ordered the money latlndering
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scheme, using uncoded language. This evidence was colnpounded by a search of the defendant's

family member's home in South Florida, where a vast amount of documentary evidence was

obtained, A rcview of that evidence demonstrated the breadth and scope of this conspiracy.

16. The defkndant and his conspirators used barik accounts located in the Southern

District of Florida associated with the seven (7) shell corporations, which were funded via wire

transfers luainly frol-n Argentina. Due to the currency restrictions in Argentina, NIORA NI ordered

others to create false invoices which were used to justify the wire transfer from the Argentine

banks to the United States, Alm ost al1 of the invoices stlppol-ting the wire transfer of U.S. dollars

from Argentina to the subject bal'lks were for services, mainly freight fbrwarding, When in fact,

the censpirators did not engage in any services, much less freight forwarding, the false invoices

were specifi' cally created to circumvent the Argentine currency restriction laws l'nentioned above.

These false invoices were submit'ted to the Argentine banks to justif'y the Argentine Central Bank

approving the wire transfer of the U .S. dollars to the ballk accounts in M iami, Florida, controlled

by M ORAN I.

In order to support the wire transfers out of Argentina in U.S . dollars, M ORANI

instructed others to create false invoices to justify the wire transfer of U.S. dollars frolu Argentina

to the various bank accounts owned and controlled by the defendant and listed to the sham

companies the defendant opened for this pup ose. Agents recovered thousands of fake invoices

thàt were created at the direction of M ORANI, inputting on the falsit'y of the invoices.

1 8 . Fol' example, in a text conversation exchange using 'W hatsApp on or about April

16, 2021, MORANI instructed his subordinate cû-conspirator to dsmake'' an invoice for tlu'ee

containers and provided information for the invoice. Specifically, M ORANI told his subordinate

co-conspirator that s/he will receive tlu-ee container nulubers fronA CtEziqtliel'' to put in the invoice'
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M O I then instructed his subordinate co-conspirator to add a five-digit seal ntlmber to

colnplete the required infornpation for the shipnaent.

1 9. Law enforcement officers attempted to verify if the container numbers listed on the

invoice were in fact legitim ate. Instead, they found that the first container listed was transpot-ted

from China to Belgitlm, and the second container listed was transported from lran to the United

Arab Enlirates. Agents did not find the third container listed in its database.However, the invoice

falsely states that al1 tlu'ee containers were transported from Houston, Texas to Argentina. Agents

were able to trace the alnotlnt that was transferred into the UBS Citibalzk account, as weil as the

accounting ledgers that were recovered as part of the investigation. As lnentioned above, agents

found thousands of fake invoices that were used to stlppol't the wire transfer of U.S. dollars from

Argentina to the defendant's ballk accounts.

Agents also learned of additional bank accounts owned by the defendant and his

co-conspirators at M organ Stanley. l-lowever, tlnlike the accounts discussed above, these

additional accounts appeared to be the repositol'y of the profits from their illicit activities. In total,

the h/lorgan Stanley accounts held approximately $ 1 8 million (U.S.). Balzk records show that wire

transfers fl' 'olm the defendant's ballk accounts relatecl to his sham corporations were sent to these

M organ Stanley accounts, which were the profits of the illegal money laundering scheme. Law

enforcem ent obtained a seiztlre wan'ant for these funds.

21 . The defendant was approached by taw enfol'cement in December of 2021 , and

through counsel, M ORANI was infol-med that he was being investigated for operating an illegal

m oney rem itting and money latlndering business. Specifically, the defendant was infolm ed that

the above-described scheme was illegal, and that the defendant did not have a license to engage in

this type of fi nancial transactions.
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Agents discovered that some of the defendant's profits from his money laundering

scheme were used to pklrchase a purchase a condom inium in M iam i Beach, Florida valued at

approximately $2,300,000 (USD).The condominium was purchased by a company called lnfinit'y

Evolution, LLC., with the registered agent listed as M ORANI'S accotlntant. The listed m anager

at the time of purehase was one of M ORANI'S shell companies, INTEG'RA. However, in August

address tn Fort Myers, Florida, as the new registered agent. Agents learned that System Failure,

LLC4 is a company that opens corporations for individuals, and acts as their registered agent. This

company alse opens bank accounts for their clients, In fact, System Failure LLC opened Infinity

Evoltltion for M ORANI.

Records from llG nity E volution, LLC show that M ORANI retained the services of

System Failure, LLC5 not just for the pulmose of being listed as the registered agent of his

condominium. Agents also discovered that Infilzity Evolution, LLC. had opened a barlk account

at Chase bank in South Florida for M ORANI. The account was opened ù.A August of 2022 by an

employee of System Failure, LLC) however, as part of the services they provide to their clients.

Financial records show that in October 2022 there was an increase of wire transfers to Unlguay

and Chile for (çgoods and services.'' There were similar payments and wire transfers in December

of 2022. ln August of 2023, the funds in the Chase accotlnt were deplctcd via Zelle transfers to

M ORANI and his co-conspirators.

4 This sentence has been amended fkom the original Affidavit. This sentence now correctly
states that it was System Failure LLC that acts as a company that opens colmorations. It also
clarifies that System Failure LLC opened the corporation Infinity Evolution LLC.
5 This sentence has been amended frem the original Affi davit. This sentence now col-rectly
states that M ORANI retained the services of System Failure LLC.

Case 1:24-cr-20132-BB   Document 5   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/26/2024   Page 12 of 15



As mentioned above, agents also discovered that in July of' 2022, the defendant and

his co-conspirators hired Systena Failure, LLC. to open new col-porations and bank accounts for

them, where they continuecl to restlm e their illegal lnoney rem iting and laundering activities.

However, instead of using a fam ily m em ber, they recruited a new co-conspirator to act as the

strawman, A1l of the sham colupanies and bank accotlnts were opened in the strawman's name,

not in the name of the defendant.

Agents found an account opened by the strawman at Bank of America for a sham

corporation opened at the instruction of the defendant and his co-conspirators. This was for a shell

col-poration that NIOIkANI had opened in the nanae of Atlas Trading USA, LLC (ttA-FLAS'').6

Althotlgh MORANI and his co-conspirators' names do not appear on either the coporate records

or at the financial institution, based on the evidence obtained, M ORANI is the de facto owner of

both the companies and the Lank accounts. lkecords show that from the time the bank accotlnt

was opened in Jtlly of 2022, tlu'oklgh the subpoena retul'n i11 December of 2023, the account had

ovel. $14 million in incoming wires, and around $ 13.95 million in outgoing wires. X'he movement

of the money was exactly the same as those in the prior accotlnts/corporations opencd by

M ORANI. Analysis of the IP addresses listed in the login history for the ATLAS account sllowed

that the vast majority of the activity occurred in Buenos Aires, Argentina. Agents are aware that

since June of 2023, the defendant has not returned to the United States, and he and hts co-

conspirators live primarily in Argentina.

6 This sentence has been amended from the original Affidavit to include the full legal name
of the com pany, which is now included.
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Additionally, in lawfully obtained recordings, M ORANI is heard instructing

System Failure, LLC? to open an additional business as quickly as possible with the strawman, and

his co-conspirator is recorded instructing the company to assist the strawman to pay the necessary

taxes for these new colnpanies, which in fact are controlled by the defenclant.

This evidence clearly demonstrates MORANI and his co-conspirators are setting

L1P I'IC'SV 1'11O11.Cy l-en-litting btlsinesses in the Southern District of Florida, but are taking nAore

precautions to ensure that their nalnes are not related to any of the docunnents, colnpallies, or

accounts.

As such, the evidence clearly demonstrates that M ORANI was operating an illegal

luoney ren-tit-ting

corporations and associated bank accounts in the Southelm District of Florida with the purpose of

opened these sham

receiving hundreds of millions of dollars froln Argentina and rel-nit'ting theln tlu'ough the bank

accounts to other recipients. This conduct is thc specified unlawf'ul activity of the money

1 960 ttrelating to illegal money translnitters).

Based ()n the foregoing facts, yout' Affiant sublnits that probable cause exists to

believe that PAUL OSW ALD M ORANI, while in the SouthenA District ofFlorida, and elsewhere,

did ltnowing conspire with at lcast one person to launder m onetary instrulnents, with a specified

1 This sentence has been amended from the original Affidavit. This sentence now con'ectly
states that M ORANI instl-ucted System Failure LLC, and provides more details from the recording
with M ORANI.
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unlawful activity of engaging in an illegal n:oney l'emittil'lg business, a1l in violation of Title 1 8,

United States Code, Sections 1 956(h) and 1 956(a)(2).

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT

/'i..
PATRICK BETTERS
SPECIAL AGENT
DRUG EN FORCEM ENT ADM INITRATION

Attested to by the applicant in accordance the with reqtlirem ents of Fed.R.Cri1u'P. 4. 1
by this 2 1 day of klarch, 2024.

zz'e x 

'

HONORABLE BRUCE E. REINHART
UNITED STATES M AGISTRATE JUDGE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
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